1941

Roy Free v. Swen C. Jensen, Chris Jensen, Alma Jensen, and Regional Agricultural Credit Corporation of Salt Lake City, Utah : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The decree appealed from was entered in an action brought by the respondent to quiet title to a parcel of farming land located near Woods Cross in Davis County. The complaint is in the usual form except that it alleged that the defendants Chris Jensen and Alma Jensen were in possession of the premises. Since the validity of a tax title is one of the questions involved it becomes important to keep in mind the exact description of the property set

forth in the original complaint. That description is as follows: (Tr. 1-3).

Beginning at the Northeast corner of Section 34, Township 2 North, Range 1 West, Salt Lake Meridian; running thence South $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rods; thence West to Jordan River; thence North along the East bank to the North line of Section 33, East to beginning, containing 80 acres.

Also beginning $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rods South from the Northeast corner of Section 33 aforesaid; running thence South $52 \frac{1}{3}$ rods; thence West to the Jordan River; thence North along the East bank of the river to a point $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rods South from the North line of Section 33; thence East to beginning, containing 183 acres.

After the trial had begun the plaintiff, over the objection of the appellants, was permitted to amend the complaint by striking out the words "Section 33" in the second line of the second paragraph of the description and inserting in lieu thereof the words "Section 34." (Tr. 11). The defendants Jensen answered the complaint, denying plaintiff's title, claiming equitable ownership in themselves, and asserting that plaintiff's claim of title was founded upon a deed from Davis County which conveyed no title because of irregularities in the tax sale proceedings leading up to and including the auditor's deed. They also alleged that the plaintiff purchased the property from the county pursuant to a collusive arrangement between the plaintiff and the defendants Alice Farnworth and D. A. Skeen, which in effect created in the plaintiff a nominal title only, the real beneficiaries of the purchase being the defendants Farnworth and Skeen. (Tr. 28). The

defendant Regional Agricultural Credit Corporation of Salt Lake City also answered the complaint, and after putting in issue plaintiff's claim of title set up the lien of the judgment recovered by it against the defendant Alice Farnworth and her husband James Farnworth. This defendant further alleged that the defendant Alice Farnworth was the equitable owner of the property, subject to the lien of the judgment, and that whatever title the plaintiff acquired from Davis County was held in trust by him for the defendant Alice Farnworth. (Tr. 25.)

The defendants Alice Farnworth and D. A. Skeen conveniently defaulted although the latter did set up a mortgage in his favor given to him by his co-defendant.

Upon the issues raised by the above mentioned pleadings the court awarded the property described in the amended complaint to the plaintiff and quieted his title against all adverse claims of the defendants. (Tr. 23.) Upon the trial it was stipulated that the appellant Regional Agricultural Credit Corporation of Salt Lake City, Utah was awarded a judgment against the defendant Alice Farnworth and James Farnworth, her husband, in the amount alleged in that defendant's answer; that the judgment was docketed and filed in the office of the clerk of Davis County on March 15, 1935 and that it remained wholly unsatisfied. (Tr. 22.) It was further stipulated that the lien of this judgment was prior and superior to the mortgage of the defendant Skeen. (Tr. 41.) Although this mortgage was prior in time to the judgment, the defendant Skeen by agreement expressly made his mortgage subsequent and

inferior to the judgment in favor of the R. A. C. C. (Defs. Ex. 4.)

As the basis of his claim of ownership to the property described in the amended complaint the plaintiff introduced in evidence the auditor's deed to Davis County. This deed covers the following described property.

Beginning at the Northeast corner of Section 34, Township 2 North, Range 1 West, Salt Lake Meridian; running thence South $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rods; thence West to Jordan River; thence North along the East bank to the North line of Section 33, East to beginning, containing 80 acres.

Also beginning $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rods South from the Northeast corner of above Section; running thence South $52\frac{1}{3}$ rods; thence West to the Jordan River; thence North along the East bank of the river to a point $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rods South from the North line of Section 33; thence East to beginning, containing 183 acres.

Plaintiff then introduced in evidence a certificate of sale issued by the treasurer of Davis County. This certificate covers the following described property. (Plfs. Ex. B.)

Beg NE cor of Sec 34, Twp 2 N, Rg 1 W, SLM; S $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rds; W to Jordan River; N along E bank to N line of Sec 33, E to beg. cont 80 a. Also beg $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rds S fr NE cor of above Sec; S $52\frac{1}{3}$ rds; W to Jordan River; N along E bank of river to a pt $22 \frac{5}{7}$ rds S fr N line of Sec 33; E to beg. cont 183 A.

The notice of May sale recites that the County Commissioners will sell for cash on the 15th day of May, 1939, etc., pursuant to Section 80-10-68 of the Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, the following described property, assessed in the following names, to wit: (Plfs. Ex. A.)

“JAMES FARNSWORTH—Beginning at the Northeast corner of Section 34, Township 2 North, Range 1 West, Salt Lake Meridian; running thence South 22 $\frac{5}{7}$ rods; thence West to Jordan River; thence North along the East bank to the North line of Section 33; thence East to beginning, containing 80 acres.

“Also beginning 22 $\frac{5}{7}$ rods South from the Northeast corner of the above Section, running thence South 52 $\frac{1}{3}$ rods; thence West to Jordan River; thence North along the East bank of the river to a point 22 $\frac{5}{7}$ rods South from the North line of Section 33; thence East to beginning, containing 183 acres.”

The deed under which plaintiff claims to have acquired title from Davis County is executed and acknowledged by the County Auditor. (Plfs. Ex. C.) It contains no preliminary recitals, although in the body of the deed it is stated that the conveyance is made in consideration of the payment by the grantee of the sum of \$643.40, delinquent taxes, penalties, interest and costs, constituting a charge against the property, which was sold to the County for non-payment of taxes for the year 1933 in the sum of \$127.49. It is also stated that the property was duly advertised and sold to the highest bidder at a public auction on the 15th day of May, 1939. The property is described substantially as it is described in the amended complaint. On the 7th day of December, 1933, James Farnworth conveyed to his wife, the defendant Alice Farnworth, the following described property:

Beginning at the Northeast corner of Section Thirty-four (34), Township Two (2) North, Range

One (1) West, Salt Lake Meridian, running thence South 22 5/7th rods; thence West to the Jordan River; thence Northerly along the East Bank of the Jordan River to the North line of Section Thirty-three (33) Township and Range aforesaid; thence East to the point of beginning. Containing 80 acres, more or less.

Also beginning 22 5/7th rods South of the Northeast corner of Section Thirty-three (33), Township and Range aforesaid, thence South 52 1/3 rods; thence West to the Jordan River; thence Northerly along the East Bank of the Jordan River, to a point 22 5/7th rods South from the North line of Section Thirty-three (33) aforesaid, thence East to the point of beginning. Containing 183 acres, more or less.

This deed was recorded April 2, 1934. Thereafter the property described in the amended complaint was assessed to the defendant Alice Farnworth notwithstanding the fact that she held the title to the first parcel only consisting of eighty acres. (Tr. 17.)

The facts which appellants claim demonstrate that the plaintiff purchased the property pursuant to a collusive plan to deprive the appellants of their interest in the property may be thus summarized. Under date of November 4, 1935 the defendant Alice Farnworth and her deceased husband entered into an exchange agreement with the appellants Chris Jensen and Alma Jensen whereby the Farnworths undertook to exchange the property in question for property in Salt Lake. (See defendants' Exhibit 3). The Farnworths agreed to pay the taxes for the years 1933 and 1934 which were then in default. As previously stated, the appellant R. A. C. C. had recovered a judgment against

the defendant Alice Farnworth in the sum in excess of \$1500.00 which was a lien upon the property when the exchange agreement was entered into. In this situation Mrs. Farnworth appealed to the plaintiff, who was a friend of the family, for assistance to prevent the loss of her interests in the property. (Tr. 29.) At first the plaintiff refused any aid but upon being repeatedly importuned finally consented to help her. She prevailed upon him to go to the office of her attorney, D. A. Skeen, who was also a friend of the plaintiff, and as above stated, held a mortgage on the property. (Tr. 29.) It was there decided that plaintiff should bid in this property at the tax sale. Skeen assured plaintiff that he, Skeen, would take the property off the plaintiff's hands. (Tr. 32.) Plaintiff repeatedly stated that he purchased the property to protect the interests of Mrs. Farnworth and Skeen and that Skeen assured him that when he, Skeen, took over the property Mrs. Farnworth's interests would be protected. (Tr. 36.) It was decided that immediately after bidding in the property an action would be brought in the plaintiff's name to quiet the title. Skeen accompanied the plaintiff to Farmington to bid in the property. (Tr. 28.) He examined the proceedings leading up to the sale and told the plaintiff that they were regular. (Tr. 28.) Immediately after bidding in the property the plaintiff and Skeen entered into a written agreement in which the plaintiff agreed to transfer the property to Skeen for the amount which plaintiff bid for it plus interest and his expenses (See Plaintiff's Exhibit D). This agreement recites that Skeen was not in a position to bid in the property himself and that it might be necessary

to quiet the title which Skeen undertook to do without charge. The complaint in the present action was prepared by Skeen. (Tr. 27.) Plaintiff knew of the judgment in favor of the R. A. C. C. (Tr. 37) and also knew of the exchange agreement with Jensens and that they were living on the property (Tr. 39.) Plaintiff admitted that he did not want the property (Tr. 39) and that he never examined the property although he did visit it at one time.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

The appellants assert that the findings of fact which are numbered 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 and 19 are not supported by any evidence and are contrary to the undisputed evidence, and that the conclusions and judgment of the court are contrary to the evidence and the law. More particularly stated, the errors relied upon are that the evidence discloses that the plaintiff acquired no title from Davis County because the deed under which he claims was not executed by any lawfully authorized officer; that the certificate of sale and assessment of the property are void because the property is not described with sufficient certainty and definiteness; that the plaintiff offered no evidence to prove that the tax sale under which he claims was lawfully conducted or properly made; that the property was sold at the tax sale for a sum largely in excess of the amount of any taxes lawfully assessed, thereby rendering the sale void. Appellants further assert that the court erred in rendering a judgment in favor of the plaintiff for the reason that the evidence disclosed that the plaintiff purchased the property at the tax sale pursuant to a collusive

and fraudulent arrangement entered into with the defendant Alice Farnworth and defendant D. A. Skeen for the purpose of depriving appellants of their rights in the property. Appellants also urge that the court erred in allowing the plaintiff to amend his complaint to describe an entirely different piece of property from that mentioned in the original complaint.

I. THE DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY IN A CERTIFICATE OF SALE MUST BE DEFINITE AND CERTAIN AND RESORT TO EXTRANEEOUS FACTS IS NOT PERMISSIBLE TO RESOLVE AMBIGUITIES.

Buckner v. Sugg, 96 S. W. 184.

Cooper v. Lee, 27 S. W. 970.

Burton v. Hoover, 74 P. (2) 652, 93 Utah 498.

Allen v. Fitzgerald, 23 Utah 597, 65 P. 592.

Tintic Undine Mining Co. v. Ercanbrack, 93 Utah 561, 74 P. (2) 1184.

The description of the property as it appears in the certificate of sale has already been set forth. It is composed almost entirely of symbols, figures, abbreviations and contractions. The statute in force at the time the certificate was made provided that in the assessment of land or the advertisement and sale thereof for taxes initial letters, abbreviations, and figures may be used to designate the township, range, section or parts of sections (80-11-6, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933). It will be observed that the statute does not authorize the use of initial letters, abbreviations or figures in the certificate of sale but for the purposes of this argument we shall assume it is broad enough to warrant the use of symbols and abbreviations in a certificate of sale. We do, however, emphasize that the use of

initial letters and abbreviations is authorized for no other purpose than to designate township, range, section or parts of section. It follows that symbols, abbreviations and figures to designate starting points, courses, distances or natural boundaries is without statutory justification. In *Tintic Undine Mining Company v. Ercanbrack*, supra, this court said that a description of the property in the certificate of sale "must be definite enough so the owner will know just what property is being sold and a prospective purchaser will know what particular property he could buy so as to determine its value." The test thus announced was undoubtedly sufficient to dispose of that case. The court did not attempt to confine the test to any definite limitations. It is therefore entirely permissible to adopt a more comprehensive test without in any way impairing the decision in the Ercanbrack case. In the case of *Buckner v. Sugg*, 96 S. W. 184, it is said:

"The description in tax proceedings must be such as will fully apprise the owner *without recourse to the superior knowledge peculiar to him as owner* that the particular tract of his land is sought to be charged with a tax lien. It must be such as will notify the public what lands are to be offered for sale in case the tax be not paid,"

and in *Cooper v. Lee*, supra, it is said that a description which is intelligible only to persons possessing more than the average intelligence, or the use and understanding of which is confined to the locality in which the land lies is not sufficient. It must be remembered in testing the sufficiency of a property description in a tax certificate we are not searching for the intent of the parties to the instru-

ment. The maker of the document does not intend to convey anything. Neither does the owner of the property by such an instrument convey or intend to convey anything. All that can be said is that the certificate affects no property except that which comes within the legal meaning of the language used.

In Devlin on Deeds, Section 1408, the author states the rule governing the interpretation of tax deeds as follows:

“The rule governing descriptions in tax deeds is thus stated by Mr. Justice Ruggles: ‘In a deed between individuals, a part of the premises conveyed may be rejected on account of its falsity, if after its rejection there is enough left to show clearly what the owner intended to convey. In this case, if the owner of the land had executed the deed, giving the boundaries correctly, the title might have passed, although the land was falsely described as to the village in which it lay. It would then present the question what the owner intended to convey. There is no such question here. The owner conveys nothing, and does not intend to convey anything. If the officers who undertake to convey for him intend to convey lands lying on one place by a deed describing them as lying in a different place, they intend to do what the statute, under which they profess to act, does not permit. . . ’ ”

It will be observed that the property is described in the certificate of sale by means of abbreviation of starting points, initial letters to indicate the meridian, figures and initials to indicate courses and distances, ends of courses and quantities. Many words necessary to make a definite and intelligible description are omitted. The manner in which the figures are arranged in the description makes it

impossible to determine what the total figure might be, thus rendering the distances and boundaries uncertain. Not even an experienced conveyancer or one possessing superior knowledge of conveying could say with any degree of certainty what property is affected by the certificate. It would require parol evidence and a decree of court to resolve the uncertainties and ambiguities and fix the location and boundaries of the property. The description wholly fails to meet the tests laid down under the authorities cited and therefore makes the certificate void.

There is even a more fatal error in the description than that which is created by the abbreviations, initial letters, symbols, figures and omissions above referred to. It is impossible to determine the starting point of the second parcel. It purports to be some distance from the "above Sec." Assuming the word "Sec." stands for section it is impossible to know what section is meant. Two sections are referred to above the words "above Sec." One is Section 34 and the other is Section 33. The one next above is Section 33. If the words "above Sec." refer to Section 33 then it relates to property that is not involved in this litigation and is not embraced within the tax deed under which the plaintiff claims. The logical section referred to by the words "above Sec." would be the section next above referred to, which is Section 33. To say the least, we have thus created an ambiguity in the description which cannot be removed since we cannot resort to extrinsic evidence. Whether this description would be valid if contained in a deed between individuals is a matter of no concern because we are not dealing with any question of intention of the

party executing the certificate. It most assuredly is not definite enough or certain enough to enable a person with average intelligence to know just what property was being sold. Without the aid of parol evidence it would not be possible for even a person possessing superior knowledge of conveyancing to determine what property is affected. We submit that under the decisions above cited the description of the property in the certificate of sale must be held to be so uncertain and ambiguous as to render the certificate of no force or effect.

II. THE BURDEN RESTS UPON THE PLAINTIFF TO PROVE THAT THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF A VALID MAY SALE WERE STRICTLY COMPLIED WITH.

Utah Lead Company v. Piute County, 92 Utah 1, 65 Pac. (2) 1190.

Tintic Undine Mining Co. v. Ercanbrack, 93 Utah 561, 74 P. (2) 1184.

Jungk v. Snyder, 28 Utah 1, 78 P. 168.

Moon v. Salt Lake County, 27 Utah 435, 76 P. 222.

Asper v. Moon, 24 Utah, 241, 67 P. 409.

Bean v. Fairbanks, 46 Utah 513, 151 P. 338.

Hatch v. Edwards, 72 Utah 113, 269 P. 138.

Olson v. Bagley, 10 Utah 492, 37 P. 739.

Eastman v. Gurrey, 15 Utah 410, 49 P. 310.

Wall v. Kaighn, 144 P. 1100, 45 Utah 244.

Buck v. Canty, 121 P. 924.

Brokaw v. Cottrell, 211 N. W. 184.

Golden, etc. v. Miller, 220 N. W. 839.

Davis v. Minnesota Baptist Convention, 16 P. (2) 48.

Hodgkin v. Boswell, 127 P. 985.

Gage v. Pumpelly, 115 U. S. 454, 6 S. Ct. 136,
29 L. Ed. 449.

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