1941

Roy Free v. Swen C. Jensen, Chris Jensen, Alma Jensen, and Regional Agricultural Credit Corporation of Salt Lake City, Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

In
The Supreme Court
of the
State of Utah

ROY FREE,
Plaintiff and Respondent,
vs.

SWEN C. JENSEN, CHRIS JENSEN,
AND ALMA JENSEN, His Wife, AND
REGIONAL AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT CORPORATION OF SALT
LAKE CITY, UTAH, a Corporation,
Defendants and Appellants.

Appeal From District Court of the Second Judicial
District, in and For Davis County,
State of Utah.
Honorable Lester A. Wade, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

The appellants, Swen C. Jensen, Chris Jensen and Alma Jensen and Regional Agricultural Credit Corporation claim, in their brief, that plaintiff herein acquired no title by his deed from Davis County to the land in question. They contend first, that the auditor's tax deed is void because it was based upon a tax sale for delinquent taxes for the year 1933 which defendants claim were paid, and was, in legal effect, a redemption, and, second, that the title plaintiff holds, if any, was acquired as the agent of or in trust for defendant Alice Farnworth.

1.

Several pages of appellants' brief are devoted to the proposition that the tax deed in question is void because of mis-description of this land in certain of the tax proceedings. The only evidence before the Court, relative to these tax proceedings, is plaintiff's Exhibit A which is a published notice of the May sale, plaintiff's Exhibit B which is the certificate of sale, plaintiff's Exhibit C which is the auditor's tax deed and plaintiff's Exhibit E which is the check of J. R. Free to Davis County in the sum of \$656.30, the latter representing the purchase price of the tax title; and also a reference by defendants to the 1935 assessment roll of Davis County, page 58, line 34, which shows the description last above mentioned of the land in question.

We shall first call the Court's attention to Section 80-10-35 of the Revised Statutes, which provides this form to be used for tax sale certificates, and concludes:

"The certificate of sale signed by the county treasurer is prima facie evidence of the regularity of all proceedings connected with the assessment, notice, equalization, levies, advertisement and sale of the property therein described, and the burden of showing any irregularity in any of the proceedings resulting in the sale of property for the nonpayment of delinquent taxes shall be on him who asserts it."

The certificate of sale here described the land in question as follows:

Beg. NE cor. of Sec. 34, Twp. 2 N. Rg. 1 W,
S.L.M., S. 22-5/7 rds; W to Jordan River;
N along E bank to N line of Sec. 33, E to

beg. cont. 80 A. Also beg. 22-5/7 rds. S fr. NE cor. of above Sec. S 52-1/3 rds. W to Jordan River; N along E bank of river to a pt. 22-5/7 rds. S fr. N line of Sec 33 E to beg. cont. 183 A.

Counsel argue that the "above section" in the second part of the description means Section 33. The first description refers to the Northeast corner and so does the second description, the first starting at the Northeast corner and the other 22.5 rods south of the Northeast corner. The meaning of the description can, we think, be readily ascertained, without conjecture, from the description itself and without resort to extraneous evidence; and it meets the test stated in

Tintic Undine Mining Company v. Ercanbrack, 93 Ut. 561; 74 P. (2d) 1184, as follows:

"The description must be definite enough for the lien to attach to the property without extraneous evidence."

The delinquent list was not introduced in evidence, and for that reason it must be presumed that the description in the certificate of sale was taken from the delinquent list and harmonizes with it. The delinquent list for the year 1933 has disappeared, and cannot be found in the proper records of Davis County, and we are entitled to presume that in its description of the land in question, it was the same as in the certificate of sale; and secondary evidence of the list was not offered. But even if the description in the published list were as set out in the answer of the defendants Jensen (Ab. 15), it was sufficient under this Court's interpretation of

Rev. Sts. Utah, 1933, 80-11-6, which reads as follows:

“In the assessment of land or the advertisement and sale thereof for taxes, initial letters, abbreviations and figures may be used to designate the township, range, section, or parts of sections.” (And see *Burton v. Hoover*, 93 Ut. 498, 74 P. (2d) 652).

As to the contention that the property had been improperly assessed, let us go directly to the assessment for the year 1933. Counsel admit that the property then stood in the name of James Farnworth. It is that year that respondent's tax title is based; and it is for that year's taxes that the property was sold.

Section 80-10-40 provides as follows:

“In case property assessed for taxes is sold to the County, it must be assessed in subsequent years for taxes in the same manner as if it had not been sold. While the certificate of sale is held by the County, the treasurer shall not sell for taxes the property covered by such certificate, but the sale under any such assessment must be postponed until the time for redemption under the previous sale shall have expired.”

That provision of the statute has been strictly followed by the assessor of Davis County, and the taxes against this property for the years subsequent to 1933 have been assessed in the same manner as if the property had not been sold. So there is absolutely no merit whatever to the question whether or not Farnworth later disposed of some or all of his interest in the property. There is no question raised at all about the validity of the

assessment for the year 1933. Furthermore, Section 80-10-38 provides as follows:

“Whenever property is sold for the non-payment of delinquent taxes, and the assessment is valid in part and void as to excess, the sale must not for that cause be deemed invalid, nor shall any grant subsequently made thereunder be held insufficient to pass a title to the grantee, unless the owner of the property or his agent, not less than six days before the time at which the property is advertised to be sold, delivers to the treasurer a protest in writing signed by the owner or agent, specifying the portion of the tax which he claims to be invalid, and the ground upon which such claim is based.”

There is no evidence before the court that the owner or anyone interested in this property ever made any protest to the treasurer specifying that any portion of the taxes assessed against this land was invalid. The contention of counsel beginning with the last paragraph on page 10 of their brief, that the 1933 taxes were actually paid is insupportable in view of

Section 80-10-59, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as Amended by the Session Laws of Utah, 1935,

which provides the manner of redemption for real estate taken over by the County for delinquent taxes. That section specifically provides that redemption certificate cannot issue from a tax sale until “all of the taxes subsequently assessed and all interest, penalties and costs” that have accrued thereon are paid. That same section provides,

however, that any person wishing to make payments toward redemption may do so in any sum in excess of \$10.00 and then provides further how the treasurer may apply such partial payments and how the same shall be distributed, as follows:

“First, against the interest accrued upon the delinquent tax for the last year included in said delinquent account at the time of payment;

“Second, against the penalty charged upon the delinquent tax for the last year included in the delinquent account at the time of payment;

“Third, against the delinquent tax for the last year included in the delinquent account at the time of payment;

“Fourth, against the interest accrued upon the delinquent tax for the next to last year included in the delinquent account at the time of payment;

“And so on until the full amount of the delinquent tax, penalty and interest upon the unpaid balances shall have been paid within the period of redemption as aforesaid. (L. '33, Ch. 61, Sec. 1, amending Rev. St. '33, Sec. 80-10-59).”

In the case before the Court the treasurer did exactly as the last mentioned section of the statute requires that he must do. When Farnworth paid the said sum of \$164.43 the treasurer applied it to the taxes for the last year, which was the year 1937, with its penalty, interest and costs, and then applied the balance on the 1936 taxes.

The section last cited also provides that anyone whose property has been sold for taxes, and for

which the four year period allowed for redemption has not expired, may have the redemption period extended for an additional year by paying an amount equal to that part of the delinquent tax which is four years delinquent, plus penalty, plus accrued interest on such delinquent tax, which accounts for Mr. Farnworth paying the exact amount of the taxes for 1933 plus penalty, interest and costs, so precisely set out by counsel on page 11 of their brief.

In answer to that we merely refer again to
 Section 80-10-59, Session Laws of Utah,
 1933, and to
 Section 80-10-61 as Amended by Session
 Laws of Utah, 1935.

These statutes simply make it impossible to pay the taxes for the year upon which the sale is based without paying all subsequent taxes because only one certificate of sale can be issued for a piece of real estate so long as any delinquent taxes remain unpaid, or unsettled, by the Board of County Commissioners or the State Tax Commission and there can be no redemption until all delinquent taxes have been settled.

The issues presented by this appeal were all carefully analyzed and discussed by the trial judge in a very full and complete opinion which appears as a part of the files of this appeal, and the appellant adopts this opinion and the reasoning and citations therein as sustaining his position on this appeal and respectfully refers this Court to a careful consideration of the said opinion without repeating or setting it forth in detail in this brief.

II.

The appellants enumerate the jurisdictional requirements of the valid May sale as follows: (a) a proper notice of the time and place of sale published in a newspaper having general circulation in the county; (b) that less than the entire tract was offered for the amount of the taxes properly assessed; (c) that no sufficient bid was made for less than the whole of the property; and (d) that the property was sold for the amount of taxes properly assessed. (Appellants' brief, p. 18). As to the first requirement appellants say, "although a notice was put into evidence there was no proof that it was published in a newspaper having general circulation in the county or that it was posted in five public places. The Revised Statutes, Section 62-1-1 tells us what a newspaper of general circulation is and Section 104-50-2 provides:

"Evidence of the publication of a document or notice required by law or an order of a court or judge to be published in the newspaper may be given by the affidavit of the printer of the newspaper or his foreman or principal clerk annexed to a copy of the document or notice providing the dates when and the paper in which the publication was made."

In this case the affidavit annexed to a copy of the notice was filed but the point made by appellants is whether the affidavit is prima facie evidence that the newspaper, The Weekly Reflex, was a newspaper of general circulation in Davis County. We are not aware of any Utah decision on the precise question. In analogous matters it has been held that the affidavit should show that the newspaper is one of the character in which the statute author-

izes publication to be made (2 Bancroft Code Pr. and Rem. 1373, Sec. 949); and "unless otherwise provided by statute, the affidavit need not contain the numerous details as to the character of the newspaper; and in the absence of sufficient evidence to the contrary a publisher's affidavit reciting that the newspaper is properly qualified is sufficient to establish the fact that the newspaper is a legal newspaper."

7 Bancroft Code Pr. and Rem. 7739, Sec. 5851.

In 61 C. J. 1182, Sec. 1595, it is said:

"The prescribed method of proof is usually an affidavit made and recorded by an officer or the printer in whose paper the advertisement was published with a copy of the advertisement or newspaper annexed thereto," — citing *Rafferty v. Davis*, 54 Or. 77, 102 P. 305; *Herr v. Graden*, 59 Colo. 372, 148 P. 863.

The second requirement specified by the appellants is "that less than the entire tract was first offered for the amount of the taxes properly assessed." The Revised Statutes of Utah, '33, 80-10-68 as amended by the laws of Utah, 1933, Chapter 62, Section 1 provided that at the May sale of property the county commissioners should offer for sale "to the *highest bidder*" each parcel of real estate which had been conveyed to the county during the current year, and provided that

"the first bid received in an amount sufficient to pay the taxes, penalties, interest and costs, including all taxes assessed subsequently to the date of the certificate of sale shall be accepted, unless a further

bid in an amount sufficient to pay said taxes, penalties, interest and costs for less than the entire parcel shall be received and *the highest bid shall be construed to mean the bid of that party who will pay in cash the full amount of the taxes, penalties, interest and costs for the smallest portion of the entire parcel.*”

It will be observed that the statute does not require that less than the entire parcel should be first offered nor does that or any other statute provide that a record shall be made of the method of sale adopted at the auction. It is not required that an explanation of the method of sale shall be contained in the notice of sale, nor that it shall be explained by the crier at the auction. The tax deed to the plaintiff recites that the property had been duly advertised and sold to the “highest bidder” which, according to the statute, is the purchaser even if he only paid an amount sufficient to pay the taxes, etc., for the entire parcel. If any method of procedure is indicated in the statute it is that the auctioneer should first ask for bids for the entire parcel and then ask for further bids for less than the entire parcel. See

LeCompte v. Smith, 82 Kan. 543; 108 P.
810

Tieman v. Johnson, 114 La. 112; 38 So. 75.

Nevertheless, whether the bid of the person who offers to pay the taxes for the entire parcel or the bid of the person who offers to pay the taxes for less than the entire parcel is accepted, that person becomes the “highest bidder.” The appellants do not present any authorities although in almost every State they have or have had similar statutes. See

61 C. J. 1195, 1196, 1209, 1348, Secs. 1610, 1612, 1632, 1900, and Notes.

We have no statute as in some jurisdictions under a kindred procedure that if there are no bids to pay the taxes, etc., for less than the entire parcel and this must appear of record.

61 C. J. 1195, Section 1611.

In 61 C. J. 1209, Sec. 1632 it is said:

"Under a statutory requirement that the sale must be to the highest bidder the *record* must show that the party who purchased was the highest bidder." But "under a statute which provides that the land shall be sold to the highest bidder a sale of the entire tract is valid although a sale of a **proportion** of the tract would have been sufficient to pay the taxes due."

61 C. J. 1195, Sec. 1610, cites
Merchants Trust Co. v. Wright, 161 Cal.
149; 118 P. 517.

In 61 C. J. 1196, Sec. 1612, Note 49 (a) it is said:

"Sold to the highest bidder. A deed which recites that the land was sold to the highest bidder is void.

Carpenter v. Gann, 51 Cal. 193."

That cannot be true under our statute, according to which the purchaser on either of the alternative terms, is the highest bidder. Of course a deed which shows that the sale was conducted contrary to the statute may be void on its face.

Wall v. Kaighn, 45 Utah 244; 144 P. 1100.

61 C. J. 1345, Sec. 1896.

Finally in

61 C. J. 1209, Sec. 1632, Note 50, it is said:

“Evidence of highest bidder — where the record of the sale showed that by its terms the highest bidder should be the purchaser and that a certain person was the purchaser it was evidence that such person was the highest bidder,” — citing *Smith v. Messer*, 17 N. H. 420.

The appellants say: “In this case the property consisted of several acres divided into two parcels each separately described. The county commissioners were therefore required to first offer the parcels separately. The italicized statement depends on the point of view, consequently we deny it.”

In 61 C. J. 1197, Sec. 1614, it is said:

“A valid sale may be made of several contiguous tracts or parcels, which are assessed as a whole and the tax cannot be arbitrarily apportioned, that is, a part of a tract, assessed as a whole, cannot be sold for a portion of the tax, and such an apportionment has been held in some jurisdictions void, and elsewhere voidable, unless there is legal cause for staying as to a part.”

The third jurisdictional requirement of a valid May sale specified by the appellants is, “(c) that no sufficient bid was made for less than the whole of the property.” We are not so sure that we understand this objection, but perhaps the following quotation from

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